FILED 11-06-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2023AP000645-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CARL LEE MCADORY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District IV, Affirming a Judgment of Conviction and Order of the Circuit Court Denying the Defendant's Motion for Postconviction Relief, Entered in Rock County Circuit Court, the Honorable Karl R. Hanson, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

OLIVIA G. GARMAN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1105954

INTRODUCTION

Wisconsin impaired driving law allows the State to simultaneously prosecute an individual under three different theories of liability for the same conduct. That law, however, also provides that there may only be one conviction for the conduct.

Mr. McAdory was charged with two offenses under Wisconsin impaired driving law. He proceeded to trial and the jury returned guilty verdicts for both impaired driving offenses. Pursuant to the singleconviction provision of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c), the circuit court, on the State's motion, dismissed the restricted controlled substances offense (RCS) and entered a judgment of conviction on the operating while intoxicated offense (OWI).

Mr. McAdory appealed his operating while intoxicated conviction and the court of appeals remanded the matter for a new trial on that offense.

Upon remittitur, rather than retry Mr. McAdory on the OWI offense, the State moved the circuit court to reopen the judgment dismissing the RCS offense, reinstate that offense, and enter a judgment of conviction against Mr. McAdory for that offense. The circuit court granted the motion based on its belief that, despite the court of appeals' order for a new trial, it had the "inherent authority" to reinstate the previously-dismissed offense.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. After an appeal has been taken and a conviction on one basis of impaired driving liability reversed and a new trial ordered for that offense. does the circuit court have authority to instead simply vacate its prior order dismissing the second basis of liability, reinstate that charge, and enter a conviction on that alternate basis of liability?

The circuit court held that, although it did not have statutory authority to do so, it had "inherent authority" to reinstate a previously-dismissed count and enter a conviction on that count, rather than conduct a new trial.

The court of appeals affirmed, holding that the circuit court was "implicitly authorized" to reinstate the previously-dismissed count and enter a judgment of conviction on that count.

2. Does the State's failure to cross-appeal or otherwise raise on appeal alternative grounds on which the appellate court could sustain the conviction result in forfeiture of that alternate argument?

The circuit court did not address this issue.

The court of appeals held that the State was not required to raise alternative grounds to support the conviction either through a cross-appeal or by raising the matter in its briefing.

3. Does the Double Jeopardy Clause and its attendant expectation of finality prohibit the circuit court from reinstating an offense on which the jury returned a verdict of guilty, but which the State voluntarily dismissed after ieopardy attached?

The circuit court held that the Double Jeopardy Clause did not bar reinstatement of the previouslydismissed count.

The court of appeals affirmed, holding that there was no double jeopardy violation because there was no risk of a second trial when the circuit court reinstated a previously-dismissed count on which the jury had returned a guilty verdict.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND **PUBLICATION**

By granting review, this Court deemed this case appropriate for both oral argument and publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In its published 2021 decision, the court of provided a detailed summary underlying facts. See State v. McAdory (McAdory I), 2021 WI App 89, ¶¶ 1, 3, 6-16, 400 Wis. 2d 215, 968 N.W.2d 770 (App. 3, 5, 7-9). The court of appeals, again, provided a thorough summary of the procedural history of the case in its second published decision arising from this matter. See State v. McAdory

 $(McAdory\ II)$, 2024 WI App 29, ¶¶ 2-4, 6-11, 412 Wis. 2d 29, 8 N.W.3d 101. As such, this section will focus primarily on the arguments put forth in the courts below and the reasoning those courts used in deciding the matter.

McAdory I

Carl McAdory was found guilty after a jury trial of three charged offenses: (1) operating while intoxicated (OWI), (2) operating with a restricted controlled substance in blood (RCS), and obstructing an officer. (126:1-3). Mr. McAdory additionally pleaded guilty to one count of operating after revocation. (182:223). At the sentencing hearing, the State moved to dismiss the RCS charge as "duplicative" of the OWI charge. (152:4). The court dismissed the RCS offense. (152:5). The circuit court, the Honorable John M. Wood presiding, sentenced Mr. McAdory to four years initial confinement and five years extended supervision on the OWI count and withheld sentence on the obstructing an officer and operating after revocation charges, placing Mr. McAdory on probation for two years, consecutive to the prison sentence. (152:35). Mr. McAdory appealed. (151:1; 191:1).

On appeal, Mr. McAdory argued that the evidence was insufficient to convict him of the OWI offense, and that statements made by the prosecution combined with the modified pattern jury instruction violated his due process rights. McAdory I, 400 Wis. 2d 215, ¶ 2 (App. 4-5). Mr. McAdory challenged only his

conviction for the OWI offense. Mr. McAdory did not challenge a conviction for the RCS offense because no judgment of conviction was entered for that offense. (See 148). The State did not file a cross-appeal or otherwise raise alternative grounds on which the judgment of conviction could be affirmed.

While the court of appeals noted that it "was a close case," it ultimately held that the State presented sufficient evidence to the jury that, if believed, could result in a finding of guilt on the OWI offense. Id. at \P 26, 29 (App. 16-17). As to the jury instruction, the court of appeals held that it unconstitutionally misled the jury "about the State's burden to prove that he was under the influence of controlled substances, given the multiple, significant, uncorrected missteps." Id. at ¶ 38 (App. 21). The court of appeals also noted that "[t]he prosecution's opening statement . . . misled the jury," id. at ¶ 58 (App. 34-35), and that "the prosecutor repeated the same misstatements of law from the opening statement in both the initial closing and the rebuttal closing," id. at ¶ 61 (App. 35-36). "Putting together the ambiguous aspects of the instruction with the deeply problematic trial events, [the court of appeals] concluded that this created a reasonable likelihood that the jury did not understand the burden that the State had in proving" the operating while intoxicated offense. *Id.* at ¶ 64 (App. 37).

The court of appeals thus reversed and "remand[ed] for a new trial on the § 346.63(1)(a) charge." Id. at ¶ 71 (App. 40). The mandate line of the

decision read: "By the Court.—Judgment reversed and cause remanded." Id.

On Remand

The court of appeals released its decision in McAdory I on November 18, 2021. See generally id. Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.26(1), the record was remitted to the circuit court on December 23, 2021. (204:1). The State did not file a motion for reconsideration in the court of appeals, or a petition for review with this Court. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.24; Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62.

Rather, the State filed a motion in the circuit court asking the court to "reinstat[e] the conviction of Operating With Restricted Controlled Substances in Blood – 8th Offense." (203:1). In its motion, the State cited no Wisconsin authority that purported to give the circuit court the authority to "reinstate" previously-dismissed offense. In its reply to Mr. McAdory's opposition to the reinstatement motion, the State argued that reinstating the previouslydismissed offense "was within [the circuit court's] purview." Additionally, "[t]he (216:3).State recognize[d] that there appears to be no Wisconsin law that directly accounts for the specific remedy that the State . . . request[ed] in this case." (216:3).

The circuit court, the Honorable Karl R. Hanson presiding, issued its written decision on February 8, 2022. (219). It held that Mr. McAdory did not have an expectation of finality in his judgment of conviction and sentence when he took his appeal. (219:4). "While

the instant issue may have been avoided if the State had elected for the sentence to be imposed on the RCS offense, it cannot be said that McAdory is prejudiced in any way by reinstatement of the RCS conviction." (219:4).Although the court recognized "[r]einstatement of a previously dismissed charge or vacated conviction certainly raises due process issues and a question regarding the finality of action taken on a dismissed charge or vacated conviction," (219:2), it held that it could do so "because no mechanism of law foreclosed it," (219:4).

At the next hearing, the circuit court sentenced Mr. McAdory for the RCS offense. (239:9). After Mr. McAdory was sentenced for the RCS offense, the State moved to dismiss the OWI offense. (239:10). Mr. McAdory's trial counsel timely filed a notice of intent to seek postconviction relief. (234).

On November 4, 2022, Mr. McAdory filed a Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30 motion for postconviction relief. (260). Mr. McAdory applied for and was granted leave by the circuit court to file an amended/supplemental motion for postconviction relief after he received a transcript of the oral argument held in McAdory I. (See 264). Mr. McAdory filed an amended motion for postconviction relief on December 1, 2022. (267). Mr. McAdory argued that the text of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) prohibited the circuit court convicting Mr. McAdory for a second time of a § 346.63(1) offense, (267:10); that no Wisconsin law provided the circuit court with the authority to reopen a judgment of conviction after appeal, reinstate a

previously-dismissed count, and convict Mr. McAdory of the same, (267:11-14); and that the resurrection of previously-dismissed count violated double jeopardy principles, (267:14-20).

After briefing from both sides, the circuit court denied Mr. McAdory's motion for postconviction relief. (279; App. 42-55). The court held that double jeopardy principles were not offended by reinstating previously-dismissed count in order to convict Mr. McAdory of that count. (279:7; App. 48). The court further held that, although the text of § 346.63(1)(c) does not grant it the explicit authority to reinstate a previously-dismissed count, "[t]here is no language in ch.346, Stat. prohibiting reinstatement of a dismissed or vacated conviction." (279:8; App. 49). Finally, the circuit court held that although "[n]o law under ch. 346, Stat., or any other chapter, authorizes the court to reinstate a previously-dismissed RCS charge when an OWI conviction is later vacated," it had the inherent authority to do so. (279:9-11; App. 50-52).

Mr. McAdory appealed. (280).

McAdory II

In his second appeal, Mr. McAdory argued that the circuit court did not have the post-remittitur authority to reopen the previously-dismissed offense. *McAdory II*, 412 Wis. 2d 29, ¶ 13 (App. 61). The court of appeals held that, although "[t]he somewhat sparse language of the single-conviction provision does not explicitly" provide the circuit court with the authority previously-dismissed to resurrect a count,

346.63(1)(c) "implicitly authorizes" a circuit court to reopen a previously-dismissed count and convict the defendant of the same after appeal and remittitur. *Id*. at ¶¶ 15, 18 (App. 62, 64). The court of appeals also held that although it reversed the OWI conviction and remanded for a new trial in McAdory I, a new trial was not required by the court of appeals' decision or by Wis. Stat. § 808.08. *Id.* at ¶¶24-25 (App. 67-68); but see McAdory I, 400 Wis. 2d 215, ¶ 71 ("Accordingly, we remand for a new trial on the § 346.63(1)(a) charge.") (emphasis added) (App. 40).

Mr. McAdory additionally argued that the State forfeited its ability to raise the previously-dismissed offense as an alternative basis on which to sustain the judgment of conviction by failing to take a protective appeal or by raising it in briefing in McAdory I. McAdory II, 412 Wis. 2d 29, ¶ 32 (App. 71). The court of appeals held that it would be nonsensical to require the State to take a protective appeal on the dismissed count because "the State had no interest modification of any judgment or order." Id. at ¶ 36 (App. 73).

Finally, Mr. McAdory argued that the circuit court's swapping of offenses violated his constitutional protection against double jeopardy. *Id.* at ¶ 38 (App. 74). In holding that the circuit court's actions did not violate double jeopardy protections, the court of appeals reasoned that "McAdory essentially seeks to benefit from the due process violation on the OWI count at his trial by arguing that the single conviction must remain the OWI count even though the

reinstatement of the RCS count does not subject him to a new trial." Id. at \P 42 (App. 75). The court of appeals also attempted to distinguish between "reinstating" a dismissed-with-prejudice charge and refiling a charge. Id. at \P 45 (App. 76-77). The court of appeals appeared to suggest that the State attempting to initiate a new criminal case based solely on the previously-dismissed charge would violate double jeopardy, while simply "reinstating" the previouslydismissed charge would not. See id. The court of appeals affirmed the circuit court. *Id.* at \P 47 (App. 77).

Mr. McAdory filed his petition for review with this Court on June 3, 2024, raising three issues: (1) whether the circuit court had the authority to reinstate a previously-dismissed offense and convict the defendant thereof; (2) whether the State forfeited the argument of the alternative basis on which to sustain the judgment of conviction when it failed to raise the matter in McAdory I; and (3) whether reinstating an offense that had been dismissed after the attachment of jeopardy is consistent with double jeopardy principles. This Court granted review.

ARGUMENT

I. Neither Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) nor any other source provide the circuit court with reinstate previouslyauthority to a dismissed count and enter a judgment of conviction.

Wisconsin courts derive their power from three sources: (1) the Wisconsin constitution, (2) the statutes passed by the legislature, and (3) the courts' inherent powers. See Eberhardy v. Circuit Court for Wood Cty, 102 Wis. 2d 539, 549-50, 307 N.W.2d 881 (1981); Breier v. E.C., 130 Wis. 2d 376, 381, 387 N.W.2d 72 (1986). The Wisconsin constitution provides that "[e]xcept as otherwise provided by law, the circuit court shall have original jurisdiction in all matters civil and criminal within this state and such appellate jurisdiction in the circuit as the legislature may prescribe by law. The circuit court may issue all writs necessary in aid of its jurisdiction." Wis. Const. Art. VII, § 8.

The circuit courts source their power from the statutes, generally, in two places: Chapter 753 and Chapter 757. Chapter 753 specifically regulates the circuit courts. See generally Wis. Stat. Ch. 753. It provides to circuit courts "all the powers, according to the usages of the courts of law and equity necessary to the full and complete jurisdiction of the causes and parties and the full and complete administration of justice, and to carry into effect their judgments, orders and other determinations, subject to review by the court of appeals or the supreme court as provided by

law." Wis. Stat. § 753.03. As relevant, Chapter 757 provides that the courts of Wisconsin have the power to (1) issue subpoenas, (2) administer oaths to witnesses, (3) "devise and make such writs and proceedings as may be necessary to carry into effect the powers and jurisdiction" of the court, and (4) exercise the powers of a court commissioner. Wis. Stat. §§ 757.01(1)-(4).

Finally, courts retain "inherent authority." *State* v. Schwind, 2019 WI 48, ¶¶ 12-13, 386 Wis. 2d 526, 926 N.W.2d 742. Inherent authority, however, only extends to those actions necessary for the court to function as a court. *Id.* at ¶ 15.

Α. Standard of review.

The interpretation and application of a statute is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. State v. Ziegler, 2012 WI 73, ¶ 37, 342 Wis. 2d 256, 816 N.W.2d 238; State v. Henley, 2010 WI 97, ¶ 29, 328 Wis. 2d 544, 787 N.W.2d 350.

Similarly, "[t]he issue of judicial authority is a question of law that this [C]ourt reviews de novo." *Henley*, 328 Wis. 2d 544, ¶ 29.

- B. The plain text of § 346.63(1)(c) does not provide the circuit court with the authority to reopen and reinstate a previously-dismissed count and enter a judgment of conviction.
 - 1. Wisconsin impaired driving law generally.

Wisconsin impaired driving law criminalizes a "single evil,"—the conduct of operating a motor vehicle while impaired by alcohol or a controlled substance—but grants prosecutors multiple theories of liability to prove the "evil." *See State v. Bohacheff*, 114 Wis. 2d 402, 414-16, 338 N.W.2d 466 (1983); Assembl. 66, 1981 Leg. § 2051(13) (Wis. 1981). There are three theories of liability under which the State may proceed against a driver alleged to be impaired. *See* Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1) (a)-(b).

The first theory of liability is operating a motor vehicle while "[u]nder the influence of an intoxicant, a controlled substance, a controlled substance analog or any combination of an intoxicant, a controlled substance, or a controlled substance analog. . .." Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). For ease of reading, this theory of liability will be referred to as Operating While Intoxicated or OWI. The second theory of liability of impaired driving is driving while "[t]he person has a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood." Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am). This category of liability will be referred to as Restricted Controlled Substance or RCS. The third theory of

liability is operating a motor vehicle while "[t]he person has a prohibited alcohol concentration." Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b). This theory of liability will be referred to as Prohibited Alcohol Concentration or PAC.

The impaired driving law allows the prosecution to charge any combination of OWI, RCS, or PAC as may be applicable for a single incident. Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c). The law also provides that "[i]f a person is found guilty of any combination of [the OWI, RCS, or PAC charges] for acts arising out of the same incident or occurrence, there shall be a single conviction for purposes of sentencing and for purposes of counting convictions. . .." *Id*.

This dual-prosecution/single-conviction scheme was adopted in 1981. Assembl. 66, § 1598t, 1981 Leg. (Wis. 1981). At that time, Wisconsin criminalized driving while "[u]nder the influence of an intoxicant or controlled substance or a combination" and while "[t]he person has a blood alcohol concentration of 0.1% or more by weight of alcohol in that person's blood. . .." *Id.*; Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1) (1981-82). Additionally, the statutes only recognized OWI and PAC theories of liability. *See id.* The legislature allowed "a prosecutor [to] proceed upon a complaint based upon a violation of [the OWI or PAC sections] or both for acts arising out of the same incident or occurrence," but allowed only "a single conviction. . .." Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) (1981-82).

Filed 11-06-2024

The dual-prosecution/single-conviction scheme appears throughout the impaired driving statutes. Similar provisions exist for impaired driving causing injury to another, Wis. Stat. § 346.63(2)(am); impaired operation of a commercial motor vehicle, Wis. Stat. § 346.63(5)(b); impaired driving causing injury to another while operating a commercial motor vehicle. Wis. Stat. § 346.63(6)(b); possessing or consuming an intoxicating beverage while on duty with respect to a commercial motor vehicle, Wis. Stat. § 346.63(7)(b); and impaired driving causing death, Wis. Stat. § 940.09(1m).

This Court had occasion to review an identical dual-prosecution/single-conviction provision in the context of impaired driving causing injury shortly legislature adopted the after the dualprosecution/single-conviction scheme for all impaired offenses that persists today.1 driving

The statute at issue in Bohacheff was Wis. Stat. § 940.25(1)(c) (1981-82). Bohacheff, 114 Wis. 2d 402, 408. The text of that statute read:

A person may be charged with and a prosecution may proceed upon an information based upon a violation of par. (a) [OWI causing great bodily harm] or (b) [PAC causing great bodily harm] or both for acts arising out of the same incident or occurrence. If the person is charged with violating both pars. (a) and (b) in the information, the crimes shall be joined under s. 971.12. If the person is found guilty of both pars. (a) and (b) for acts arising out of the same incident or occurrence, there shall be a single conviction for

Filed 11-06-2024

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