FILED 12-20-2024 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2023AP645-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CARL LEE MCADORY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF. BOTH ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR ROCK COUNTY, THE HONORABLE KARL HANSON, **PRESIDING**

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN W. KELLIS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083400

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

the parties can argue why alleged errors may have affected any or all of the jury's verdicts. Rather than requiring several postconviction hearings and appeals, the defendant would have his opportunity to show that one or more errors affected the jury's verdicts, and if he is unsuccessful in showing that each verdict is affected, the circuit court could simply enter judgment on one of the jury's verdicts on a companion charge.

Third, this solution furthers the legislature's intent of zealously prosecuting drunk and drugged drivers by ensuring that none escape accountability simply because the State or circuit court, possibly unaware of which postconviction claims may be lurking in the future, would choose to have judgment and sentence imposed for one jury verdict over another. Indeed, McAdory criticizes the State for that reason, insisting that the prosecutor could have just opted to dismiss his OWI charge at sentencing, rather than his RCS charge, given that the State "was fully apprised of all of the facts and the law" at that point, including his challenge to jury instructions used at his trial. (McAdory's Br. 46.)

McAdory's criticism is unfounded. While it may be easy now to second-guess the prosecutor's reasoning for selecting one charge to dismiss over another, that will not always be the case. Potential postconviction claims are not necessarily obvious during a jury trial, and the State is often put in the position to simply guess at which charge will be least vulnerable to postconviction relief. While his complaint about jury instructions may have only involved his OWI charge, he could have also possibly mounted a separate challenge to his counsel's effectiveness relating to his RCS charge. And there may be times where an obvious trial error claim might prove weaker than a hidden claim that only comes to light during postconviction proceedings.

The State simply should not be forced to speculate as to which charge is more likely to survive a later postconviction challenge, lest it be barred from pursuing a conviction on that charge in the future, and McAdory's suggestion that the State may resort to sandbagging to drag matters out is baseless. (McAdory's Br. 42–43.) Certainly, the State, too, has a vested interest in finality in a defendant's conviction, and the State's proposed solution as an alternative to *Bastian*'s endorsed rule would serve that goal for both the State and the defendant.

In the end, assuming this Court agrees that *Bastian* wrongly proclaimed that any charges brought as authorized by Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) must be dismissed if a judgment and sentence is not imposed for that charge, circuit courts will need guidance as to the proper treatment for those charges if not dismissal. This Court should exercise its superintending authority to provide that guidance.

D. The circuit court had the inherent power to revive McAdory's RCS charge and enter judgment on the jury's guilty verdict.

"The Wisconsin Constitution created a court system and expressly granted certain powers to Wisconsin's courts," including inherent authority or "[t]hose powers . . . necessary to enable courts to accomplish their constitutionally and legislatively mandated functions." *State v. Schwind*, 2019 WI 48, ¶ 12, 386 Wis. 2d 526, 926 N.W.2d 742; *Henley*, 328 Wis. 2d 544, ¶ 73. Circuit courts generally exercise inherent authority to serve three goals: "(1) to guard against actions that would impair the powers or efficacy of the courts or judicial system; (2) to regulate the bench and bar; and (3) to ensure the efficient and effective functioning of the court, and to fairly administer justice." *Henley*, 328 Wis. 2d 544, ¶ 73.

While not explicitly attributed to any specific goal, one cannot dispute that both this Court and the court of appeals have sanctioned the reinstatement of criminal charges after their dismissal, even absent constitutional or statutory authorization. *See, e.g., State v. Davis*, 2023 WI App 25, ¶ 19, 407 Wis. 2d 783, 991 N.W.2d 491 (allowing for reinstatement

of charges dismissed minutes earlier in oral ruling); $State\ v.$ $Deilke,\ 2004\ WI\ 104,\ \P\ 25,\ 274\ Wis.\ 2d\ 595,\ 682\ N.W.2d\ 945$ (allowing for reinstatement of charges dismissed pursuant to plea agreement that is later breached); $State\ v.\ Asfoor,\ 75$ Wis. 2d 411, 249 N.W.2d 529 (1977) (allowing for reinstatement of charges dismissed before circuit court discovered that newly elected district attorney received campaign contributions from defendant's family).

Together, the above-cited authority reveals that circuit courts are entitled to exercise their inherent authority when taking actions that "are necessary to enable [them] to accomplish their constitutionally and legislatively mandated functions," *Henley*, 328 Wis. 2d 544, ¶ 73, particularly where that action is performed to correct an error in an ongoing proceeding, see Davis, 226 Wis. 2d at 750. In McAdory's case, the circuit court wielded that inherent authority to accomplish its judicial functions and legislative mandate by ensuring that a defendant found guilty of an RCS offense did not escape the consequences of his actions simply due to an errant, decades-old appellate decision that incorrectly interpreted Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) to require dismissal of charges where the legislature not only did not command as much but where dismissal would actually undermine the legislature's intent.

In the same vein, entering judgment on the jury's guilty verdict on McAdory's previously dismissed RCS charge rather than holding a new trial on his OWI charge as contemplated by $McAdory\ I$ helped to ensure the "efficient and effective functioning of the court" and effectuate the "fair[] administer[ation of] justice." Henley, 328 Wis. 2d 544, ¶ 73. Again, the errors that resulted in the court of appeals reversing McAdory's OWI conviction in $McAdory\ I$ had no impact on the jury's guilty verdict for his RCS offense. The State presented compelling evidence that convinced the jury, beyond a reasonable doubt, that McAdory's blood contained at

least one—if not two—restricted controlled substances. To hold another jury trial on McAdory's OWI charge when the jury already found him guilty of the RCS charge would waste judicial resources, which could be avoided by reinstating McAdory's RCS charge and entering judgment on it.

In sum, the circuit court exercised its inherent power to both reinstate McAdory's dismissed RCS charge and enter judgment on it after he disturbed his original OWI conviction in *McAdory I*.

E. McAdory's counterarguments should not persuade.

McAdory disputes that the circuit court had the inherent authority to reinstate his RCS charge and enter judgment on it. (McAdory's Br. 26–38.) In support, he contends that the court's actions are not of the type previously deemed to fall within its inherent authority and that the court's actions were not necessary to perform its mandated functions. (McAdory's Br. 30–38.)

Neither of his arguments should persuade. Again, the circuit court's actions fell within its inherent authority to fairly administer justice and promote efficient, effective functioning of the court. *Henley*, 328 Wis. 2d 544, ¶ 73. Still, McAdory seems to imply that this power is exercised only when a court holds a person in contempt, appoints counsel for indigent parties, or corrects clerical errors, but none of his cited authority sets such limits. (McAdory's Br. 36–37.) And that is for good reason: if inherent authority were limited to those tasks, those restrictions would counterintuitively serve to hamper, rather than assist, a court from performing its necessary judicial functions.

This reasoning holds true notwithstanding the fact that Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) is a "legislative creation." (McAdory's Br. 37–38.) Again, the legislature did not explicitly advise how a court must effectuate its goal of having one conviction and

one sentence. McAdory's argument might hold weight had the statute explicitly required that a circuit court take one action, only for the court in his case to take another. To hold that the circuit court were barred from abiding by the statute unless it specifically directs how to do so would prevent the court from doing anything at all because any act—be it dismissal as required by *Bastian* or simply accepting the jury's verdicts without dismissing any charges as proposed by the State and McAdory's petition for review—is not defined by the statute.

Finally, even if it concludes that the text of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) is ambiguous and not simply silent as to preferred procedure, neither the legislative history cited by McAdory nor the "rule of lenity" should lead this Court to hold that the circuit court lacked the authority it exercised in this case. Indeed, the legislative history McAdory cites in his brief does not help him. (McAdory's Br. 34.) If the legislature intended to hold drunk and drugged drivers accountable and ensure they faced consequences for their dangerous conduct, it is hard to believe that the legislature envisioned Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c), as enacted, would enable a perennial drunk driver found guilty of operating with restricted controlled substances in his blood to face no consequences just because he successfully appealed a conviction for a companion charge.

In short, the circuit court possessed the inherent power to revive McAdory's RCS charge and the jury's verdict, and McAdory's arguments to the contrary should not convince this Court otherwise.

II. Only McAdory forfeited a claim before this Court, and this Court should decline to review it.

McAdory argues that the State forfeited what he labels "an alternative ground to sustain [his] conviction by failing to raise it" in *McAdory I*. (McAdory's Br. 39–53.) His argument is misguided and fails to recognize that it is he who forfeited one of his current claims by omitting it from his petition for

review. This Court should reject McAdory's assertion that the State forfeited its argument and decline to review his court competency claim that he omitted from his petition for review.

A. Standard of review

"Whether a claim is forfeited or adequately preserved for appeal is a question of law this court reviews de novo." State v. Coffee, 2020 WI 1, \P 17, 389 Wis. 2d 627, 937 N.W.2d 579.

B. The State's failure to raise a meritless if not frivolous argument in *McAdory I* did not result in forfeiture of its later request to have McAdory convicted of his RCS charge.

McAdory contends that "[t]he State forfeited the argument that there was an alternative ground to sustain [his] conviction by failing to raise it in the initial appeal." (McAdory's Br. 39.) To that end, he appears to argue that the State, put on notice that he was trying to invalidate his OWI conviction as soon as he filed his appellate brief in *McAdory I*, was obligated to file a notice of cross-appeal or, at the very least, argue in its response brief that the jury's guilty verdict on McAdory's RCS charge was an alternative basis for which the court of appeals could affirm his judgment on his OWI charge. (McAdory's Br. 39–47.)

McAdory's argument falters from the very start. While OWI, RCS, and PAC convictions may count equally for the purpose of elevating penalties for future offenses, Wis. Stat. § 343.307(1), they are still different charges with different elements, see supra p. 16. A guilty verdict on an RCS charge does not support an OWI conviction any more than it would support a disorderly conduct conviction. Simply stated, the jury's verdict finding McAdory guilty of his RCS charge was not "an alternative ground" by which the circuit court or the

court of appeals could have sustained McAdory's OWI conviction even if the State had so argued in *McAdory I*.

McAdory's argument that the State needed to pursue a cross-appeal is likewise flawed. A respondent on appeal need only file a cross-appeal when seeking modification of an order entered in a proceeding from which the appellant appealed. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.10(2)(b). But the State did not seek modification of an order in McAdory I. As the court of appeals correctly observed, "[I]n the first appeal the State had no interest in modification of any judgment or order. The State's position was that the proceedings to date had been error-free." (Pet-App. 73.) Simply put, the State did not seek any modified order or judgment in McAdory I, but even if it had, any argument that McAdory's OWI conviction could be sustained on "alternative grounds" would have been meritless at best and frivolous at worst.

McAdory's policy arguments should not convince this Court otherwise. Although the State agrees that multiple, successive appeals should be avoided and are burdensome on the judicial system, that still doesn't mean that the court of appeals in *McAdory I* could have affirmed his OWI conviction just because the jury also found him guilty of his RCS charge. Had the State advanced the arguments McAdory envisions, they not only would have failed, they also would not have prevented this successive appeal.

As far as avoiding piecemeal appeals, the State submits that its proposed procedure for replacing Bastian serves that very goal. See supra pp. 22-25. By allowing a circuit court to accept a jury's multiple verdicts and enter judgment and sentence on one but not dismiss others while a defendant exhausts his appellate rights, the State, defendant, and any victims can reach case finality much more quickly than by advancing as McAdory's case has up to this point.

Filed 12-20-2024

In sum, while the State shares McAdory's frustration with the path his case has taken, that the State did not file an unnecessary cross-appeal or raise meritless, if not frivolous, arguments in *McAdory I* did not result in the forfeiture of its ability to seek judgment and sentence on the jury's verdict finding McAdory guilty of his RCS charge.

C. McAdory raises and argues an issue not presented in his petition for review; it is not preserved for review and should not be addressed.

As the appellant and petitioner, McAdory was required to properly preserve his claims for review and is accordingly limited to the claims he both preserved below and raised in his petition for review. *State v Caban*, 210 Wis. 2d 597, 604, 563 N.W.2d 501 (1997); *Emer's Camper Corral*, *LLC v. Alderman*, 2020 WI 46, ¶ 44, 391 Wis. 2d 674, 943 N.W.2d 513 (holding that a petitioner cannot raise alternative legal theories to support their claims for relief that were not raised in the petition for review to this Court).

In his petition for review, McAdory requested that this Court assume jurisdiction for three reasons: (1) to interpret Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c) and guide lower courts on the proper process when a jury returns guilty verdicts on more than one OWI, PAC, or RCS charge; (2) to address the double jeopardy ramifications of dismissing and reviving a charge for which a jury has returned a guilty verdict but that is dismissed as required by *Bastian*; and (3) to address whether the State was obligated to cross-appeal or argue during *McAdory I* that his judgment could be sustained on alternative grounds, namely the jury's verdict on the RCS charge. (McAdory's Pet. 7–9.)

Conversely, McAdory argues in his brief that the circuit court lacked competency to reinstate the dismissed RCS charge following $McAdory\ I$ as the court of appeals had ordered a new trial. (McAdory's Br. 49–53.) In support, he

cites both state statutes and several of this Court's opinions concerning the circuit court's competency to take certain actions once it receives remittitur following an appeal. (McAdory's Br. 49–53.) And he concludes by arguing that "[b]y failing to comply with the statutory scheme, the circuit court lost competency to act on the court of appeals' mandate" and was therefore "without the power to issue a valid order." (McAdory's Br. 52.)

That is a different claim and argument than that which McAdory asserted in his petition. Arguing that a statute did not empower the circuit court to take the actions that it did is not the same as arguing that a court lacked competency to take actions that it eventually took. This Court's order granting McAdory's petition made clear that, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(6) that he could not raise or argue issues not set forth in the petition for review unless otherwise ordered by this Court. This Court has not authorized him to deviate from those claims raised in his petition, McAdory's competency argument is not preserved, and this Court must decline to review it.

III. Neither the Double Jeopardy Clause nor the doctrine of claim preclusion barred the circuit court from reinstating McAdory's RCS offense and the jury's guilty verdict.

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